UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
DISTRICT OF SOUTH DAKOTA
SOUTHERN DIVISION

League of Women Voters of South Dakota,
League of Women Voters of the United
States, Susan Randall, and Kathryn Fahey,

Plaintiffs,
Case No.

V.

South Dakota Governor Kristi L. Noem, in
her official capacity, South Dakota Attorney
General John Doe, in his official capacity,
and South Dakota Secretary of State Steve
Barnett, in his official capacity,

)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)

Defendants.

COMPLAINT

Plaintiffs, for their Complaint against Defendants Governor Kristi L. Noem, in her official
capacity as Governor of South Dakota, Attorney General John Doe, in his official capacity as
Attorney General of South Dakota, and Secretary of State Steve Barnett, in his official capacity as
Secretary of State of South Dakota, allege as follows:

NATURE OF THE ACTION

1. This is an action to enforce rights at the very core of protected political speech: the
ability of citizens to consider and vote on ballot measures, sometimes called ballot initiatives,
concerning critical issues of state government. The essential step in a successful ballot measure,
and indeed a healthy democracy, is engaging with and educating voters. In South Dakota and many
other states throughout the United States, an important component of this engagement is through
“petition circulators” who contact voters, often by going door-to-door, to request their

consideration—up or down—of proposed ballot measures. South Dakota 2020 Senate Bill 180



(“SB180”) would limit petition circulators to residents of South Dakota who have lived in the state
for more than 30 days, severely restricting voters’ access to ballot measures and voter-engagement
organizations’ ability to engage in political activity. Plaintiffs here—individual South Dakotans,
the League of Women Voters of South Dakota (“LWVSD”), and the League of Women Voters of
the United States (“LWVUS”) (collectively, “the League”), seek to preserve these crucial rights
by challenging SB180 as violating the First and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States
Constitution, as enforced by 42 U.S.C. § 1983, and rights guaranteed by Article VI 88 18 and 19
of the South Dakota Constitution.

2. The League is committed to an informed and engaged electorate in South Dakota
and throughout the nation. Nonpartisan in everything that it does, the League promotes
involvement in the political process for every citizen through its local, statewide, and national
programs. Members of the League travel across state lines in furtherance of this mission and share
resources among the chapters through their mutually supportive work in a number of areas,
including sponsoring candidate forums, providing educational materials, and assisting in the
circulation of ballot measures. SB180 places a burden on the League and its members because it
limits their ability to share information and pool resources to assure the dissemination of political
information across all political spectrums.

3. The First Amendment to the United States Constitution guarantees all citizens
freedom of speech and the right to petition the Government for a redress of grievances. Article VI
of the South Dakota Constitution absolutely guarantees freedom of speech in this State and that
“[t]he right of petition, and of the people peaceably to assemble to consult for the common good
and make known their opinions, shall never be abridged.” In South Dakota, “[n]o law shall be

passed granting to any citizen, class of citizens or corporation, privileges or immunities which



upon the same terms shall not equally belong to all citizens or corporations.” That is because “[a]ll
political power is inherent in the people, and all free government is founded on their authority, and
is instituted for their equal protection and benefit, and they have the right in lawful and constituted
methods to alter or reform their forms of government in such manner as they may think proper.”
4, Petition circulation is “core political speech” and the “First Amendment protection
for such interaction . . . is ‘at its zenith.”” Buckley v. Am. Const. L. Found., Inc., 525 U.S. 182, 186
(1999) (quoting Meyer v. Grant, 486 U.S. 414, 422, 425 (1988)). Article VI of the South Dakota
Constitution provides that “the state of South Dakota is an inseparable part of the American Union
and the Constitution of the United States is the supreme law of the land.” South Dakota, however,
has so restricted the ways in which election petitions may be circulated to place ballot measures
on statewide election ballots that it infringes upon the core political speech of South Dakota
citizens in violation of the First Amendment to the Constitution of the United States and Article
V1 of the Constitution of South Dakota.
5. South Dakota has a proud history of ballot measures. In 1898, South Dakota was

the first state in the union to adopt the initiative process; similar processes now are in place in 23
other States, allowing citizens to place proposed statutes and, in some states, constitutional
amendments on the ballot. Generally, the process includes these steps:

e Preliminary filing of a proposed petition with a designated State official,

e Reviewing the petition for conformance with statutory requirements (and, in

several states, a review of the language of the proposal);
e Preparing a ballot title and summary;
e Circulating the petition to obtain the required number of signatures of registered

voters;



e Submitting the petitions to the State official who must verify the number of
signatures; and

e If enough valid signatures are obtained, the question goes on the ballot (or, in some
states, the question is sent to the Legislature).

6. Ballot measures are a crucial part of citizen participation in government. In recent
years, ballot measures have sparked increased participation in the electoral process and allowed
the people of a State to speak directly on critical questions like Medicaid expansion and
legalization of marijuana, both of which are current issues in South Dakota. Other issues that have
been the subject of ballot measures in other states include the establishment of new minimum-
wage levels, restoration of voting rights to people with felony convictions, imposition of stricter
voter ID requirements, and even changes to voter initiative rules themselves. In other examples,
several independent redistricting commissions were considered and established through ballot
initiatives.

7. For each of these measures, the number of signatures obtained to support the ballot
measure was the critical step to placing the measure on the ballot. Indeed, this is true for all ballot
measures, which makes the ability to reach out and educate voters to consider ballot measures vital
to preserving our fundamental rights and maintaining a healthy democracy. The best way to obtain
signatures is for “petition circulators” to contact voters, often by going door-to-door, to solicit their
consideration—up or down—of the proposed ballot measure.

8. By severely limiting who can be petition circulators in South Dakota in ways that
prevent knowledgeable, nonpartisan people from other states to come to South Dakota to educate
South Dakota voters—even prohibiting some eligible voters from circulating petitions in the

State—SB180 places burdens on voters that violate the First Amendment to the United States


https://www.brennancenter.org/our-work/analysis-opinion/citizen-and-legislative-efforts-reform-redistricting-2018

Constitution and Article VI 8§ 18 of the South Dakota Constitution. As detailed below, SB180
stands in the way of the right of citizens to assemble to petition the government, makes unlawful
distinctions between residents of this State and other states, and restricts the freedom of speech
that is central to the American way of life. This Court should declare the restrictions of SB180
invalid, strike down the statute and enjoin South Dakota officials from seeking to enforce its terms.

9. Specifically, the First Amendment to the United States Constitution, made
applicable to the several States through the Fourteenth Amendment to the United States
Constitution, provides that the Government “shall make no law respecting an establishment of
religion, or prohibiting the free exercise thereof; or abridging the freedom of speech, or of the
press; or the right of the people peaceably to assemble, and to petition the Government for a redress
of grievances.”

10.  Article VI § 18 of the South Dakota Constitution provides that “[n]o law shall be
passed granting to any citizen, class of citizens or corporation, privileges or immunities which
upon the same terms shall not equally belong to all citizens or corporations.”

11.  Article VI 8§ 19 of the South Dakota Constitution provides that “[e]lections shall be
free and equal, and no power, civil or military, shall at any time interfere to prevent the free
exercise of the right of suffrage.”

12.  Article VI § 26 of the South Dakota Constitution provides that “[a]ll political power
is inherent in the people, and all free government is founded on their authority, and is instituted
for their equal protection and benefit, and they have the right in lawful and constituted methods to
alter or reform their forms of government in such manner as they may think proper.”

13. South Dakota 2020 Senate Bill 180 (“SB180”’), amended the definition of “petition

circulator” to “a person who is a resident of this state for at least thirty days prior to acting as



a petition circulator, is at least eighteen years of age, and who, for pay or as a volunteer, circulates
petitions for the purpose of placing ballot measures on any statewide election ballot.” SB 180 § 2-
1-1.3(2) (emphasis added). South Dakota’s residency requirement for petition circulators violates
rights guaranteed by the First and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution, as
enforced by 42 U.S.C. § 1983, and rights guaranteed by Article VI 88 18 and 19 of the South
Dakota Constitution. Accordingly, Plaintiffs, on their own behalf and on behalf of persons
similarly situated, bring this action for declaratory and injunctive relief prohibiting state officials
from enforcing SB180 now and in the future.

JURISDICTION AND VENUE

14.  This action arises under the First and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States
Constitution. This Court has subject-matter jurisdiction under 28 U.S.C. § 1331.

15.  Plaintiffs are authorized by 42 U.S.C. § 1983 to bring this action to redress the
Constitutional injuries they have sustained by reason of the operation and enforcement of SB180
by the Defendants.

16. Plaintiffs’ claims under Article VI of the South Dakota Constitution are within this
Court’s pendent jurisdiction to hear “all other claims that are so related . . . that they form part of
the same case or controversy,” 28 U.S.C. § 1367(a), and that “arise[] from the same set of operative
facts.” United Mine Workers of America v. Gibbs, 383 U.S. 715 (1966).

17.  This Court has authority to grant declaratory and injunctive relief under 28 U.S.C.
§8 2201 and 2202.

18.  Venue is proper in the District of South Dakota pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b).

PARTIES



19.  Plaintiff League of Women Voters of South Dakota (“LWVSD”) and League of
Women Voters of the United States (“LWVUS”) (collectively, LWVSD and LWVUS are referred
to as “the League”) are grassroots, nonpartisan, community-based political organizations dedicated
to encouraging informed and active participation in government and the political process through
advocacy and education.

20.  The LWVSD has approximately 138 members in the State of South Dakota.
LWVSD is proud to be nonpartisan, neither supporting nor opposing candidates or political parties
at any level of government, but always working on vital issues of concern to members and the
public. LWVSD’s programs supporting its mission to empower voters, defend democracy, and
provide fair access to the ballot, have included: registering voters; organizing and leading local
and state ballot issue education programs; organizing non-partisan candidate forums; sponsoring
legislative coffees throughout the state; running the nonpartisan VOTE411.org website for South
Dakota; and working with federal district courts to register newly naturalized citizens.

21.  The LWVUS was founded in 1920 as an outgrowth of the struggle to win voting
rights for women. LWVUS is organized in more than 850 communities and exists in every state
with more than 500,000 members and supporters nationwide. Drawing on its nationwide reach,
the League is able to provide resources in sparsely populated states where local chapters alone do
not have the capacity themselves to act in carrying out the League’s mission. The work of the
League is done primarily by volunteers who work together tirelessly across state lines to help
accomplish their goals. LWVUS supports states’ interstate coordination and connects states
attempting to do mission work but need additional resources or capacity. Laws that make such

interstate cooperation more difficult, or like SB180, actually prohibit such interstate cooperation,



undercut the work of the League and make it impossible for League members to participate fully
in the political process.

22.  One of the League’s primary goals is to promote government across the nation that
is representative, accountable, responsive, and that ensures opportunities for effective and
inclusive voter participation in government decision-making. A bedrock principle of the League
is the “one person one vote” guarantee of Reynolds v. Sims, 377 U.S. 533 (1964).

23. In addition to sponsoring candidate forums and debates, including Presidential
Debates in Presidential election years, the League hosts hundreds of events and programs every
year to educate voters across the country. The League distributes millions of educational materials
about state and local elections.

24.  The League’s members in South Dakota and members from other States have
participated in securing signatures for candidacy petitions and initiative and referendum petitions
in South Dakota in the past and are prepared to do so in the future. In their educational efforts
across the States, state and local chapters of the League call upon the expertise provided by
LWVUS to provide nonpartisan materials about measures proposed for voter consideration.
Members of the various League chapters travel across State lines to assist each other in
accomplishing the mission of an educated electorate. Specifically, the League is prepared to
continue to educate voters about ballot measures in South Dakota and to draw upon volunteers
from inside and outside South Dakota to do so.

25.  The League has standing to bring this action both on its own in furtherance of its
organizational goals and because its members would otherwise have standing to sue in their own
right. The interests that this action seeks to protect are germane to the League’s purpose of

promoting government across the nation that is representative, accountable, responsive, and that



ensures opportunities for effective and inclusive voter participation in government decision-
making. Neither the claims asserted nor the relief requested in this action require the participation
of individual League members, although two members have also brought individual claims in this
action.

26.  Plaintiff Susan Randall is a former South Dakota resident and a member of the
League. Plaintiff Randall still owns property in South Dakota and travels there two to three times
a year. But for the restrictions imposed on circulating petitions by SB180, when Plaintiff Randall
comes back to South Dakota, she would volunteer for LWVSD to help circulate petitions, as she
did when she was a resident of the state.

27.  Plaintiff Kathryn “Katie” Fahey is Executive Director of The People and a member
of the League. Plaintiff Fahey has worked with the League on ballot initiatives across the country,
using The People’s network to locate volunteers to circulate petitions for ballot initiatives and to
provide training to local volunteer circulators. She would do the same in South Dakota but for the
restrictions imposed by SB180.*

28. Defendant Kristi L. Noem is the Governor of South Dakota and is sued in her
official capacity. Defendant Noem signed SB180 into law.

29. Defendant John Doe is the Attorney General of South Dakota and is sued in his
official capacity. Defendant John Doe is responsible for defending the laws of South Dakota,

including SB 180.2

! Plaintiff Randall and Plaintiff Fahey are referred to collectively as the “Individual Plaintiffs.”

2 Plaintiffs will seek leave to substitute the person appointed to the office of Attorney General of
South Dakota for John Doe, also sued only in the Attorney General’s official capacity and not
personally, when the office is once again filled.



30.  Steve Barnett is the Secretary of State of South Dakota and is sued in his official
capacity. Defendant Barnett oversees the South Dakota Division of Elections.

31.  All Defendants enforce SB180, and unless restrained, will act together to enforce
SB180 to restrict the people from circulating petitions in lawful and constituted methods to alter
or reform their forms of government in South Dakota.

STATUTORY BACKGROUND

32.  South Dakota defines “petition circulator” as “a resident of the State of South
Dakota as defined under § 12-1-4, who is at least eighteen years of age who circulates nominating
petitions or other petitions for the purpose of placing candidates or issues on any election ballot.”
SDCL § 12-1-3(11). “Residence” is defined as “the place in which a person has fixed his or her
habitation and to which the person, whenever absent, intends to return.” SDCL § 12-1-4. Until
2020, and since 2020 in meaningful ways that are at odds with SB180, South Dakota allows
residents to establish residence after one day. See, e.g., SDCL 12-1-4.

33. In 2020, the South Dakota Legislature passed, and Defendant Governor Kristi
Noem signed into law, SB180 amending SDCL § 2-1-1.3 to define “petition circulator” as “a
person who is a resident of this state for at least thirty days prior to acting as a petition circulator,
is at least eighteen years of age, and who, for pay or as a volunteer, circulates petitions for the
purpose of placing ballot measures on any statewide election ballot.” SB 180 § 2-1-1.3(2).

34.  SB180 imposes a 30-day residency requirement for petition circulators in South
Dakota who seek signatures on petitions from voters who would lawfully vote in South Dakota on
ballot measures put before the voters of South Dakota.

35. SB180’s residency requirement applies to candidacy petitions and to initiative and

ballot measures including referendum petitions.

10



36.  Currently, the official website of the Secretary of State shows that there have been
ballot measures filed to amend Article XI of the South Dakota Constitution, to amend the South
Dakota Constitution to amend Medicaid eligibility, an initiated measure to the same effect, and an
initiated measure to legalize possession, use, and distribution of marijuana.> Other initiated
measures that have been filed include different approaches to expand Medicaid eligibility, institute
a new “top two” primary system, and establish a redistricting commission.*

37.  The circulation of petitions like those enumerated above and on similar issues
important to the governance of this State is core political speech protected by the United States
Constitution and the South Dakota Constitution.

38.  The residency requirement imposed by SB180 reduces the pool of circulators
available to support candidates or issue campaigns.

39.  Theresidency requirement imposed by SB180 to circulate petitions to voters stands
in stark contrast to the residency requirement to vote on such measures. A voter may reside in
South Dakota for one day and be eligible to vote, provided that the voter represents that they intend
to reside in South Dakota. SDCL 12-1-4.

40.  This leads to the anomalous situation in which a voter can arrive in South Dakota
and immediately sign a ballot measure petition, but that same voter may not circulate a petition to
place a matter on the ballot.

41.  SB180 also does not accomplish a legitimate governmental purpose. Under SB180,

a resident is not required to declare an intention to remain in the State longer than 30 days, creating

the anomalous situation in which a South Dakota resident eligible to vote in South Dakota under

% South Dakota Secretary of State, Elections & Voting, SDSOS.Gov, https://sdsos.gov/elections-
voting/upcoming-elections/general-information/2022-ballot-questions.aspx (last visited June 15, 2022).
4 1d.
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SDCL 12-1-4 cannot circulate a ballot initiative for signature, while a visitor who remains in the
State for 30 days but intends to depart shortly thereafter is allowed to circulate ballot initiatives,
either as a “volunteer circulator” or as a “paid circulator.” On its face, SB180 deprives the first
group of South Dakota citizens the privileges and immunities afforded voting residents while
allowing non-citizens who remain in the State for 30 days to affect the course of State government.

42.  According to the Heritage Foundation, there have been just three cases of ballot
petition fraud in South Dakota over the last 20 years.®

43.  SB180 places a severe burden on the individual Plaintiffs’ First and Fourteenth
Amendment rights by making it more difficult for voters to engage with political issues and
candidates, receive political messages and education, associate with voter engagement groups for
the purpose of political activity, and gain access to the ballot. SB180 places a severe burden on the
League’s First Amendment rights by making it more difficult for voter engagement organizations
to engage with, associate with, and educate voters on political issues through ballot measures.
Ballot measures also are a means for citizens to associate around common political views to elicit
political change and to gain access to the ballot, rights that are enshrined in the rich heritage of
constitutional protections in this State. The burden imposed by SB180 confounds the ability of
citizens of South Dakota to effect the changes in Government guaranteed them by the United States
and South Dakota Constitutions.

NEED FOR RELIEF

44, Specifically, the League and the Individual Plaintiffs seek to secure signatures for
ballot measures, including initiative and referendum petitions, for upcoming South Dakota

elections. The number of signatures required is five percent of the total vote for governor in the

® The Heritage Foundation, Election Fraud Cases, https://www.heritage.org/voterfraud/search?state=SD
(last visited June 15, 2022).
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last gubernatorial election. For 2022, the number needed is 16,961 signatures for an initiated
measure petition, 16,961 signatures for a referred law petition, and 33,921 signatures for an
initiated constitutional amendment petition. The League estimates that the number of volunteers
needed to generate the required petition signatures would be roughly 1,000 volunteers.

45, In the League’s experience, there are not enough in-state volunteers in South
Dakota for the League to amass the required signatures on a petition in the next election cycle. In
the most recent election cycle, the League was unsuccessful in submitting a ballot question for an
initiated constitutional amendment on behalf of voters in South Dakota, in material part because
SB180 prevented the League from using out-of-state volunteers to assist with circulation of ballot
initiatives, imposing upon the League and its members the higher cost of hiring “resident”
circulators as “paid circulators” who had resided in South Dakota for 30 days because of the
residency requirement of SB180.

46.  The costs for the League to hire paid circulators for ballot measures in South Dakota
is unduly prohibitive. A recent quote the League received from an outside vendor estimated the
cost for a 30,000-signature petition to be between $425,029 and $544,909. The cost is multiplied
with each ballot measure, imposing an unreasonable and impermissible cost on the exercise of
protected Constitutional rights.

47.  There are out-of-state members of the League as well as other volunteers, including
the Individual Plaintiffs, who are willing and able to come to South Dakota to circulate petitions,
but they are now barred from doing so under SB180. Recently, Plaintiff Susan Randall, a Michigan
resident, South Dakota property owner, and member of the League of Women Voters, came to
South Dakota for two weeks in 2021. She and her husband wanted to assist the League with

circulation of an initiated constitutional amendment while she was in South Dakota. Because of
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SB180’s residency requirement, however, Plaintiff Randall was not able to help circulate the
petition while she was in state.

48.  Plaintiff Fahey, a Michigan resident and member of the League of Women Voters,
was also ready to tap into her network of over 14,000 volunteers to organize a group to come to
South Dakota in 2021 to offer training to local volunteers and to help circulate petitions for the
initiated constitutional amendment. Plaintiff Fahey and her organization, The People, have done
this successfully in several other states. Because of SB180’s residency requirement, however,
Plaintiff Fahey was not able to come to South Dakota to circulate petitions herself nor was she
able to recruit volunteers to go to South Dakota to do the same.

49.  While the Eighth Circuit upheld as constitutional a North Dakota residency
requirement for petition circulators, there was a lack of evidence in the record as to the cost and
burden the requirement placed on the plaintiffs, and the court did not specifically determine
whether the requirement was narrowly tailored. See Initiative & Referendum Inst. v. Jaeger, 241
F.3d 614, 616-17 (8th Cir. 2001). SB180 is similar to the invalid residency requirement in the
neighboring state of Nebraska, which failed to pass constitutional muster because of the burden,
including increased cost, limited resources, and reduction of available pool of circulators, imposed
on the electorate by operation of the statute. See Citizens in Charge v Gale, 810 F. Supp. 2d 916,
926-27 (D. Neb. 2011). Further, while the prevention of election fraud was foundational to the
Jaeger decision, there is no evidence of such fraud in South Dakota to justify SB180’s aggressive
restriction on First Amendment speech.

50.  The First Amendment prohibits government regulation that would make it “more

challenging to circulate petitions and collect the required number of signatures . . . .” SD Voice v.
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Noem, No. 1:19-CV-01017-CBK, 2021 WL 3861795, at *3 (D.S.D. Aug. 30, 2021). Yet that is
precisely what SB180 does.

51.  The residency requirement imposed by SB180 is not justified by a sufficiently
weighty state interest.

52.  The residency requirement imposed by SB 180 is not narrowly tailored to advance
a compelling state interest.

INJUNCTIVE AND DECLARATORY RELIEF TO REDRESS THE INJURY

(28 U.S.C. 8§ 2201 and 2202)

53.  An actual and justiciable controversy exists as to which the Plaintiffs require a
declaration of their rights.

54, Defendants’ enforcement of SB180 places a severe burden on the Plaintiffs’ First
and Fourteenth Amendment rights and draws an unlawful distinction between citizens of South
Dakota and citizens of other States, as well as an unlawful distinction among citizens of South
Dakota, depriving recent residents of South Dakota from expressing their political views through
circulation of petitions from the privileges and immunities enjoyed by citizens of South Dakota
who have resided in the State for longer than 30 days.

55. Unless the requested injunctive relief issues, the Defendants will continue to
infringe the constitutional rights of Plaintiffs and other voters through their enforcement of SB180.

56.  The Plaintiffs have no adequate remedy at law for the Defendants’ violations of
their rights.

S57. The Plaintiffs are suffering irreparable harm as a result of the Defendants’
violations of the law and Constitution and the harm will continue unless declared unlawful and

enjoined by this Court.
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COUNT ONE

(Facial Violation of the First and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States
Constitution)

58.  Plaintiffs incorporate by reference and reallege each and every allegation contained
above as though fully set forth herein.

59.  The First and Fourteenth Amendments guarantee Plaintiffs’ right to engage in
political speech, of which petition circulation is at the core.

60.  The residency requirement of SB180 places a significant, tangible burden on
Plaintiffs’ right to engage in core political speech.

61.  The residency requirement of SB180 on its face violates the First and Fourteenth
Amendments to the U.S. Constitution.

COUNT TWO

(Violation of the First and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution as
Applied to Plaintiffs)

62.  Plaintiffs incorporate by reference and reallege each and every allegation contained
above as though fully set forth herein.

63.  The First and Fourteenth Amendments guarantee Plaintiffs’ right to engage in
political speech, of which petition circulation is at the core.

64.  The residency requirement of SB180 places a significant, tangible burden on
Plaintiffs’ right to engage in core political speech.

65.  Theresidency requirement of SB180 violates the First and Fourteenth Amendments
to the U.S. Constitution.

66.  Defendants’ enforcement of the residency requirement of SB180 places significant,

tangible burden on Plaintiffs’ right to engage in core political speech.
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67. Defendants’ enforcement of the residency requirement of SB180 violates the First
and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution.

68. Defendants lack any compelling interest to justify enforcement of the residency
requirement of SB180 in contrast to the significant burden it places on Plaintiffs and other similarly
situated persons.

69. Unless and until enjoined by this Court, Defendants will continue to enforce the
residency requirement of SB180, in violation of the First and Fourteenth Amendments to the U.S.
Constitution.

COUNT THREE

(Facial Violation of Article VI § 18 of the South Dakota Constitution)

70.  Plaintiffs incorporate by reference and reallege each and every allegation contained
above as though fully set forth herein.

71.  Atrticle VI § 18 of the South Dakota Constitution provides that “[n]o law shall be
passed granting to any citizen, class of citizens or corporation, privileges or immunities which
upon the same terms shall not equally belong to all citizens or corporations.”

72.  The residency requirement of SB180 places a significant and unnecessary burden
on Plaintiffs and similarly situated voters.

73.  The residency requirement of SB180 arbitrarily discriminates between in-state and
out-of-state residents to the detriment of Plaintiffs and all South Dakota voters.

74.  The residency requirement of SB180 is not justified by a sufficiently weighty state
interest.

75.  The residency requirement of SB180 is not narrowly tailored to advance a

compelling state interest.
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76.  The residency requirement of SB180 on its face violates Article VI § 18 of the
South Dakota Constitution.

COUNT FOUR

(Violation of Article VI § 18 of the South Dakota Constitution as Applied to Plaintiffs)

77.  Plaintiffs incorporate by reference and reallege each and every allegation contained
above as though fully set forth herein.

78.  Article VI § 18 of the South Dakota Constitution provides that “[n]o law shall be
passed granting to any citizen, class of citizens or corporation, privileges or immunities which
upon the same terms shall not equally belong to all citizens or corporations.”

79.  The residency requirement of SB180 places a significant and unnecessary burden
on Plaintiffs and similarly situated voters.

80.  The residency requirement of SB180 arbitrarily discriminates between in-state and
out-of-state residents to the detriment of Plaintiffs and all South Dakota voters.

81.  The residency requirement of SB180 is not justified by a sufficiently weighty state
interest.

82.  The residency requirement of SB180 is not narrowly tailored to advance a
compelling state interest.

83.  Defendants’ enforcement of the residency requirement of SB180 as applied to
Plaintiffs violates Article VI 8 18 of the South Dakota Constitution.

84. Unless and until enjoined by this Court, Defendants will continue to enforce the
residency requirement of SB180, in violation of Article VI § 18 of the South Dakota Constitution.

COUNT FIVE

(Facial Violation of Article VI 8 19 of the South Dakota Constitution)
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85.  Plaintiffs incorporate by reference and reallege each and every allegation contained
above as though fully set forth herein.

86. Article VI § 19 of the South Dakota Constitution provides that “[e]lections shall be
free and equal, and no power, civil or military, shall at any time interfere to prevent the free
exercise of the right of suffrage.”

87.  The residency requirement of SB180 places a significant and unnecessary burden
on Plaintiffs and similarly situated voters.

88.  The residency requirement of SB180 arbitrarily discriminates between in-state and
out-of-state residents to the detriment of Plaintiffs and all South Dakota voters.

89.  The residency requirement of SB180 is not justified by a sufficiently weighty state
interest.

90.  The residency requirement of SB180 is not narrowly tailored to advance a
compelling state interest.

91.  The residency requirement of SB180 on its face violates Article VI § 19 of the
South Dakota Constitution.

COUNT SIX
(Violation of Article VI § 19 of the South Dakota Constitution as Applied to Plaintiffs)

92.  Plaintiffs incorporate by reference and reallege each and every allegation contained
above as though fully set forth herein.

93. Article VI § 19 of the South Dakota Constitution provides that “[e]lections shall be
free and equal, and no power, civil or military, shall at any time interfere to prevent the free

exercise of the right of suffrage.”
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94.  The residency requirement of SB180 places a significant and unnecessary burden
on Plaintiffs and similarly situated voters.

95.  The residency requirement of SB180 arbitrarily discriminates between in-state and
out-of-state residents to the detriment of Plaintiffs and all South Dakota voters.

96.  The residency requirement of SB180 is not justified by a sufficiently weighty state
interest.

97.  The residency requirement of SB180 is not narrowly tailored to advance a
compelling state interest.

98. Defendants’ enforcement of the residency requirement of SB180 as applied to
Plaintiffs violates Article VI 8 19 of the South Dakota Constitution.

99. Unless and until enjoined by this Court, Defendants will continue to enforce the
residency requirement of SB180, in violation of Article VI § 19 of the South Dakota Constitution.

REQUEST FOR RELIEF ASTO ALL COUNTS

WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs respectfully request that this Court:

a. Enter a declaratory judgment that the residency requirement of SB180 on its face
violates the First and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution;

b. Enter a declaratory judgment that the residency requirement of SB180 as applied
violates the First and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution;

c. Enter a declaratory judgment that the residency requirement of SB180 violates Article
VI § 18 of the South Dakota Constitution;

d. Enter a declaratory judgment that the residency requirement of SB180 violates Article
VI 8 19 of the South Dakota Constitution;

e. Enjoin the Defendants from enforcing the residency requirement of SB180;
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f. Award the Plaintiffs the cost of this action together with their reasonable attorneys’
fees and expenses pursuant to 52 U.S.C. § 10310(e) and 42 U.S.C. § 1988; and
g. Retain jurisdiction of this action and grant the Plaintiffs such other relief which may in

the determination of this Court be necessary and proper.

League of Women Voters of South Dakota,
League of Women Voters of the United
States, Susan Randall, and Kathryn Fahey

Dated: June 28, 2022 By: _/s/ Pete Heidepriem
One of their Attorneys

Scott N. Heidepriem

Pete Heidepriem

Heidepriem, Purtell, Siegel, Hinrichs
101 West 69'" Street, Suite 105A
Sioux Falls, SD 57108

(605) 252-9277
pete@hpslawfirm.com

Michael Dockterman*
Cara Lawson*

Amartya Bagchi*

Azar Alexander*

Steptoe & Johnson LLP
227 West Monroe, Suite 4700
Chicago, IL 60606

(312) 577-1300
mdockterman@steptoe.com
clawson@steptoe.com
abagchi@steptoe.com
aalexander@steptoe.com

Celina Stewart*
Caren E. Short*
League of Women Voters
of the United States
1233 20th Street NW, Suite 500
Washington, DC 20036
(202) 429-1965
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cstewart@Iwv.org
cshort@Iwv.org

*Pro hac vice applications forthcoming



